IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 97-10648

JAMES H NEVBERRY
Pl ai ntiff-Appell ant

V.

EAST TEXAS STATE UNI VERSI TY;
W LLI AM WADLEY; ROBERT E HOUSTON
Def endant s- Appel | ees

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas

Novenber 18, 1998

Bef ore GARWOOD, KI NG and H G3 NBOTHAM Circuit Judges.
PATRICK E. H Gd NBOTHAM Circuit Judge:

Inthis disabilities case, plaintiff Janes H Newberry appeal s
the district court’s refusal to instruct the jury that a
“perception of disability” or “record of disability” would qualify
as a disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act. Under
the facts of this case, no reasonable jury could have found that
there existed a “perception of disability” or “record of
disability” without first finding that Newberry had a “disability.”
We thus find that he was not entitled to an instructi on concerni ng
“perception of disability” or “record of disability.” W also

affirmthe trial court’s dism ssal of various other clains.



I

Janes H Newberry, a tenured professor of photography at East
Texas State University, was fired in 1994, He filed suit, alleging
that he suffered a psychiatric disability. Newberry clained that
Dr. WIlliamWadl ey and Dr. Robert E. Houston, superiors of his at
ETSU, conspired to violate his civil rights and that ETSU di sm ssed
himillegally on account of his disability.

Newberry’s association with ETSU, which has since noved
underneath the unbrell a of Texas A&M Uni versity and i s call ed Texas
A&M - Comrerce, began in 1979, when he started working as a
prof essor of photography there. The enploynent relationship was
troubled from early on, as Newberry's faculty colleagues
recommended that he be denied tenure. Nonetheless, ETSU granted
Newberry tenure in 1984.

Newberry’s initial appointnment was in the Departnent of
Journalismand G aphic Arts. Tension, however, devel oped between
Newberry and Dr. Jack Hllw g, appointed as departnment chair in
August 1989. Newberry, according to Hllw g, worked fewer hours
than his colleagues, preferred to work only on Tuesdays and
Thur sdays, did not work in the norning, and kept no office hours.
HIllwig also testified that Newberry threatened and harassed him
H I lw g subsequently resi gned, out of fear, according to ETSU, that
Newberry woul d undermine Hllwig s owm chance of w nning tenure.
At that tinme, Houston, the Dean of the College of Arts and
Sci ences, found Newberry’'s conduct to be noncollegial, and

suggested to Newberry that he obtain counseling.



In 1992, a group that included Newberry reconmmended that the
phot ogr aphy program be noved to the Departnent of Art, and ETSU
acceded to the request. The Departnent was headed by Dr. \Wadl ey,
and Houst on was Wadl ey’ s superior. Soon enough, however, Newberry
w shed he was back in the Departnent of Journalism and G aphic
Arts. Wtnesses testified that he threatened to sue Wadl ey,
refused to attend 8 a.m faculty neetings, and resisted
participating in graduate reviews of art students. Several faculty
menbers, apparently concerned that Newberry’s behavi or woul d cause
Wadl ey to | eave, approached Houston. On Decenber 1, 1993, Houston
sent a nenorandum to Newberry warning him that if his behavior
towards his col |l eagues did not becone nore professional, he m ght
be di sm ssed.

Newberry and Houston net several tines in the next tw weeks,
but the substance of those neetings is unclear. Houston also net
w th Newberry’ s canpus counsel or Randy Bodenhener, who | at er deni ed
that he told Houston that Newberry was disabled. On February 15,
1994, Newberry drafted a proposal under which ETSU woul d grant him
a year’'s paid sick | eave, during which he would study art in New
Yor k. There is sone dispute as to whether Newberry nmade this
proposal spontaneously or whet her Houston had earlier suggested the
year off. In any event, Houston refused to grant the request in
the absence of a letter from a psychiatrist indicating that
Newberry required accommuodati on.

On May 23, 1994, Wadl ey reconmmended Newberry’s di sm ssal, and

Newberry was di sm ssed two days | ater, though he would continue to



receive salary and benefits for a year. Newberry duly filed an
appeal according to ETSU procedures. A faculty conmttee voted, 6-
5, that Newberry's tenure should not be revoked, but reconmended
that Newberry not be returned to the Departnment of Art. This vote,
however, was nerely advisory, and ETSU President Jerry Morris
uphel d Newberry’s dism ssal. ETSU s Board of Regents in turn upheld
t hi s deci sion.

Newberry filed suit against ETSU  Wadley, and Houston,
al l eging nunerous clains. The nost inportant of these clains for
purposes of this appeal are that ETSU violated the Anericans with
Disabilities Act, 42 U.S. C. 8§ 12111-12213, and that the defendants
conspired to violate his civil rights in violation of 42 U S.C. 88
1985 and 1986. Newberry filed additional federal clains under 42
U S.C. 8 1983 and the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U S.C. 8§ 701-797b.
State clains included intentional infliction of enotional distress,
civil conspiracy, and a clai munder the Texas Labor Code.

The trial lasted six days. At trial, a psychiatrist and a
i censed professional counselor who had treated Newberry between
1992 and 1994 both testified. The counselor testified that
Newberry suffered from obsessive conpulsive traits, and the
psychi atri st specifically diagnosed hi mas suffering fromobsessive
conpul si ve personal ity disorder. Testinony indicatedthat Newberry
had also seen another psychiatrist for treatnent. That
psychiatrist and Newberry’'s regular physician nade di agnoses of

obsessi ve conpul sive di sorder as well.



According to Newberry's testifying wtnesses, the obsessive
conpul sive disorder had nunerous effects on Newberry' s basic
physical and nental functions at work and at hone. Newberry
hinmself testified that he had difficulty cleaning hinself, waking
up, sleeping, scheduling his daily routine, and controlling his
bowel function. The disorder, he testified, also interfered with
his relations wth others by instilling in him excessive
perfectionism rigidly ethical behavior, and an insistence on
addressing all details of his interpersonal relationships.

As early as | ate 1992, according to Newberry, WAdl ey observed
physi cal synptons of depression and suggested that Newberry obtain
counsel i ng. In April 1993, Houston advised Newberry that he
bel i eved Newberry suffered froma serious psychol ogi cal probl emand
shoul d seek psychiatric or other nental health care. |n Decenber
1993, Houston, aware that Newberry was seeing a |icensed
pr of essi onal counsel or enpl oyed by ETSU, net with t he counsel or and
all egedly indicated that he believed Newberry was suffering from
psychol ogi cal problens, and suggested to the counselor the
possibility of Newberry’'s taking a |l eave of absence. At around the
sane tinme, Houston discussed Newberry with other faculty nenbers,
who al | egedly characterized Newberry with phrases |Ii ke “paranoid,”
“nuts,” “crazy,” and “having nental difficulties.” Houston also
di scussed Newberry with ETSU s inside counsel and its president.
Finally, between February and April, 1994, Houston was authorized

to visit with Newberry’'s psychiatrist to obtain a diagnosis of a



ment al di sorder. Although the psychiatrist contacted him Houston
decided not to visit with the psychiatrist.

No witness testified that he perceived Newberry to be
disabled. Dr. Alan Harris, Newberry’'s psychiatric expert; Randy
Bodenhener, his psychol ogist; Janmes Cornehls, Newberry’'s econom c
expert; two fornmer students of Newberry’s; and various nenbers of
the faculty and admnistration all testified that they did not
regard himas disabl ed.

After Newberry rested his case, the defendants noved for
j udgnent pursuant to Federal Rule of G vil Procedure 50(a). The
court dismssed the 88 1985 and 1986 clains on the basis that
Wadl ey and Houston were protected by qualified immunity. I n
addition, it dismssed the § 1983 claim on the basis that ETSU is
not a “person” subject to suit wunder that section, and the
enptional distress claim in the absence of evidence of outrageous
conduct. The court refused to dism ss the ADA claim

Wil e the court did not specifically comment on the renaining
clainms, the Rehabilitation Act and Texas Labor Code clains
essentially overlap with the ADA claim and Newberry’'s proposed
jury instructions did not nention these clains specifically.
Newberry’s proposed jury instructions did specifically nention the
Texas civil conspiracy claim The court’s jury instructions
omtted this claim perhaps because the court had dism ssed the
simlar 8 1985 claim

At the charge conference, Newberry did not object to the

om ssion of the conspiracy claim He did, however, specifically



object to the judge’'s truncation of the definition of “disability”
t hat Newberry had offered with respect to the first elenent of the
ADA claim Under the plaintiff’s proposal, Newberry would satisfy
this elenment by showing “that he had a disability or perceived
disability or record of disability.” The court, however, refused to
include the “perceived disability or record of disability”
| anguage. At the charge conference, the court overrul ed Newberry’s
obj ecti on.

The jury found that Newberry was not a qualified individual
wth a disability under the ADA, and the court entered judgnent on
the verdict. Newberry appeals. He specifically challenges only
the district court’s charge as to “disability” and the di sm ssal of
the conspiracy cl ai ns.

I

It is uncontested that the definition of “disability” that
appel | ant requested tracked the statutory | anguage. See 42 U. S.C.
8§ 12102(2) (“Disability nmeans ... (A a physical or nental
i npai rment that substantially limts one or nore of the major life
activities of such individual; (B) a record of such an inpairnent;
or (C) being regarded as having such an inpairnent.”). I n
addition, at |east sone evidence indicated that admnistration
officials and other faculty nenbers believed that Newberry had
mental problens and suggested counseling. A reasonable jury
therefore mght have concluded that a perception existed that
Newberry suffered from such conditions, which we assune, arguendo

only, could be found to constitute a perception of disability.



Under the facts of this case, however, no reasonable jury could
have concl uded both that Newberry did not suffer froma disability
and that he was dism ssed because of a perception that he was
di sabl ed.

Newberry was required to show that his disability (or
perception or record thereof) was a notivating factor in the

decision to dismss him See, e.qg., Hypes v. First Comerce Corp.

134 F. 3d 721, 726 (5th G r. 1998). Had he been able to show that
he in fact suffered a substantial inpairment of major life
functions, then he mght have been able to show that this
i npai rment notivated his dism ssal and that ETSU refused to all ow
a reasonabl e accommpdati on. Now that Newberry nmust rely only on a
perception of disability, however, he nust show that this
perception was a notivating factor in his dismssal.

Newberry cannot show this. Al the evidence indicates that
the university dism ssed himbecause of his work performance and
lack of collegiality. In the absence of any evidence that the
university was concerned specifically about Newberry' s being
mentally ill--which would be the case if they believed, for
exanple, that nentally ill people are inherently dangerous, and
they fired himto avoid the danger--then the perception of him as
mentally ill could not have been a notivating factor in his
di sm ssal

Section 12102(2)(C) is concerned not with synptons, but with
categori zation. That is, where an enpl oyee engages i n conduct that

is legitimately a basis for dismssal, and the enpl oyer believes



that the enployee’'s conduct is synptomatic of disability, t he
enpl oyer may fire the enpl oyee on the basis of the conduct itself,
as long as the coll ateral assessnent of disability plays norole in
the decision to dismss. An enployee dism ssed for unprofessiona
behavi or m ght seek refuge in 8§ 12102(2)(A). But an enpl oyer need
not provide reasonabl e accommobdation to an enpl oyee who does not
suffer froma substantially limting inpairnment nerely because the
enpl oyer thinks the enpl oyee has such an inpairnent.

The regul ati ons and the EEOC s “Interpretive Guidance on Title
| of the Americans with Disabilities Act” state:

(I') I's regarded as having such an inpairnent neans:

Has a physical or nental inpairnent that does not
substantially limt nmajor life activities but is
treated by a covered entity as constituting such
[imtation;

(2) Has a physical or nental i npai rment  t hat
substantially limts major life activities only as
a result of the attitudes of others toward such
i npai rnment; or

(3) Has none of the i npairnents defined [ above] but is
treated by a covered entity as having a
substantially limting inpairnent.

29 CF. R § 1630. 2(I).

Subsection (1) is inapposite. It protects enployees from
enpl oyers who believe a mnor inpairnment to be nore serious than it
i S. For exanple, if Newberry had a mld case of obsessive
conpul sive disorder that did not interfere with his work, but ETSU
unnecessarily worried that the disorder would prevent him from
wor ki ng successfully, this subsection would apply. |In this case,
the issue urged by appellant is not whether ETSU exaggerated the
effect of Newberry's inpairnent, but rather whether ETSU
m sattri buted Newberry’'s poor work performance to a disability.

9



Subsection (2) is alsoirrelevant. There is no evidence that
Newberry’s obsessive conpul siveness caused difficulties only
because of others’ attitudes about the disorder. Newberry’s
di sm ssal cane about not because of others’ attitudes about the
di sorder, but because his behavior interfered with his job
performance, and perhaps because the behavi or displ eased others.

Subsection (3) mght appear to apply literally but the
CQuidelines clearly explainits purpose with the foll ow ng exanpl e:
“This situation could occur, for exanple, if an enpl oyer di scharged
an enpl oyee in response to a runor that the enployee is infected
w th Human | mmunodeficiency Virus (H V). Even though the runor is
totally unfounded and the individual has no inpairnent at all, the
i ndividual is considered an individual with a disability ....” 29
C.F.R pt. 1630 app. Here, Newberry was dism ssed not because of
runors that he was obsessive conpulsive, but because of his
conduct .

We must uphold a jury verdict if “based upon the record
the chal l enged instruction could not have affected the outconme of

the case.” Bender v. Brumey, 1 F.3d 271, 276-77 (5th Cr. 1993)

(internal quotation marks omtted); see also Russell v. Plano Bank
& Trust, 130 F.3d 715, 719 (5th Cr. 1997). A judgnent wll be
reversed based on a faulty jury charge only where “the charge as a
whol e | eaves us with substantial and ineradi cable doubt the jury

has been properly guided inits deliberations.” Hall v. State Farm

Fire & Cas. Co., 937 F.2d 210, 214 (5th Cr. 1991) (internal

quotation marks omtted). Because under the facts of this case,

10



there are no circunstances in which the change in the jury charge

could have affected the verdict, no such doubt exists.

111
The evidence furnishes no support for Newberry’'s 8§ 1985(3)
claimthat he was di sm ssed because of aninus directed agai nst him

on account of his alleged disability.? In Burns-Toole v. Byrne, 11

F.3d 1270 (5th G r. 1994), we refused to consider a claimthat 8§
1985(3) extends to religious discrimnation. W acknow edged that
t he scope of 8 1985(3) was an “interesting” question. [d. at 1275
n. 25.2 Nonet hel ess, we held that 8§ 1985(3) could not be applied in
t he absence of evidence of “sone cl ass-based aninus.” | d. at 1276.
W noted: “[The plaintiff] contends that she was discrimnated
agai nst because she is a Seventh Day Adventist. She has fail ed,

however, to present any evidence in support of the proposition that

G ven this finding, we need not address whether the clains
were barred under the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine or the
approach taken in Geat Anerican Fed. S&. Ass’'n v. Novotny, 99
S.Ct. 2345 (1979).

2ln Deubert v. Gulf Fed. Sav. Bank, 820 F.2d 754 (5th Cr.
1987), we held that to state a claimunder § 1985(3), plaintiffs
must allege that they are victinms of a race-based conspiracy. This
hol di ng was clouded by the Suprene Court’s statenent that “sone
raci al or perhaps ot herw se cl ass-based, invidiously discrimnatory
aninmus” is a prerequisite to a 8 1985(3) action. Giffin v.
Breckenridge, 403 U S. 88, 102 (1971). The Court, however, has
never held that nonracial aninmus is sufficient. See United Bhd. of
Carpenters v. Scott, 463 U S. 825 (1983) (refusing to extend 8§
1985(3) to commercial or econom c conspiracies); Bray v. Al exandri a
Wnen's Health dinic, 506 U S 263 (1993) (refusing to extend 8§
1985(3) to conspiraci es agai nst wonen seeking abortions). Thus,
Deubert remains the lawin this circuit.

11



the defendants discrimnate agai nst Seventh Day Adventists as a
class.” |d.

Even if Newberry has presented sone evidence that he was
di scrim nated against because of his nental illness, he has
presented no evidence that ETSU di scrim nated agai nst the nentally
ill or disabled as a class. Therefore, Newberry cannot maintain
his 8§ 1985 and 1986 cl ains.?

|V

Newberry has not contested the dismissal of his § 1983 claim
or of his enotional distress claim and they are waived. See Fed.
R App. P. 28(a). He failed to object to the jury instruction that
omtted the civil conspiracy clai munder Texas law, and it is also

wai ved. See Latuso v. Uniroyal, Inc., 783 F.2d 1241, 1242 (5th

Cir. 1986); see also Fed. R Cv. P. 49(a). To the extent that
Newberry’s Rehabilitation Act cl ai mdoes not overlap his ADA cl aim
that claim is also defeated, because Newberry has offered no
evidence that he was adversely treated solely because of his

handi cap. See Chandler v. Cty of Dallas, 2 F.3d 1385, 1390 (5th

Cr. 1993). Finally, the Texas Labor Code claimoverlaps entirely
with the ADA claim See Tex. Lab. Code § 21.001(3) (Vernon 1996).

\Y

For the above reasons, we AFFIRMthe judgnent.

51f the 8 1985 claimfails, so nust the § 1986 claim See 42
US C 8 1986 (“Every person who, having knowl edge t hat any of the
wrongs conspired to be done, and nentioned in section 1985 of this
title, are about to be coommtted ... shall be liable ....").
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AFF| RMED.
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